#### **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

02-17-2016

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT IV** 

Appeal No. 2015AP2344 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEREMY L. WAND,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR LAFAYETTE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

George M. Tauscheck Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1015744 4230 N. Oakland Ave. #103 Milwaukee, WI 53211 (414) 704-9451

#### **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did trial counsel ineffectively argue the presentence motion to withdraw plea by not pursuing Wand's claim that he was induced to plead guilty because of pressure from his attorneys and their failure to litigate a suppression motion?

The trial court answered: No, because the court had conducted a sound plea colloquy, Wand waived the suppression hearing, and he only offered conclusory allegations of pressure from his attorneys.

2. Should Wand be allowed to withdraw his plea because his attorney argued the plea withdrawal motion under a conflict of interest?

The trial court answered: No, because Wand's argument was circular: either he qualified for plea withdrawal because of attorney pressure or, in the absence of pressure, there was no conflict.

3. Was trial counsel ineffective for not using the opinion of an arson expert to cast doubt on the origin of the fire?

The trial court answered: No, because trial counsel had an expert and was not required to seek a second opinion.

4. Was trial counsel ineffective for not obtaining and using an expert to suppress Wand's confession?

The trial court answered: No, because trial counsel had an expert and was not required to seek a second opinion.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither is requested. Defendant-appellant believes that the issues presented herein can be adequately addressed by the parties' briefs.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In a complaint dated September 11, 2012, Jeremy L. Wand, along with his older brother, Armin, was charged with three counts of First-Degree Intentional Homicide for the deaths of his nephews, two counts of Attempted First-Degree Homicide involving his niece and sister-in-law, and one count of arson (2:1-3; App. 101-03). The probable cause portion of the complaint alleged that, on September 7, Wand and his brother set fire to Armin's house, resulting in the deaths of Armin's three sons and injuries to his wife and daughter (2:4-5; App. 104-05). These allegations were based on the confessions of both Armin and Jeremy Wand.

Armin Wand gave a statement to the police on September 9, 2012, in which he said that he and Jeremy planned to burn down Armin's home late at night to collect life insurance policies on the members of his family. His wife, Sharon Wand, always complained about not having enough money, and he, Armin, wanted a fresh start in life. Sharon woke up after the fire had already started, Armin said, so Jeremy ran out of the house (2:5-6; App. 105-06).

The complaint continued by describing the statement given by Jeremy Wand. He admitted discussing with Armin about starting a fire to collect the renter's insurance, and said that Armin promised to pay him \$300 for his help. Wand told the investigators that he went to Armin's house around 11:45 p.m., and although he was reluctant to start a fire with people inside, he set a fire on the electrical cord to the television. Wand said that, after Sharon woke up, Armin pulled him outside (2:7-8; App. 107-08).

Attorney Frank Medina was appointed to represent Jeremy Wand (14:1), and he received help from Attorney

Miguel Michel, as co-counsel, later in the case. Attorney Medina had reason to doubt Wand's competency, and the court ordered a competency exam (42:1-2). Wand's competency report, dated October 25, 2012, found that Wand was capable of understanding the criminal justice system (47:4). In the report, Wand said that the police questioned him over a three-day period and refused to believe his protestations of innocence, so he just lied by telling them something close to what his brother, Armin, reportedly said. Wand also described the complaint as a lie (47:3).

An amended information was filed on November 15, 2012, adding a seventh count of Intentional Homicide of an Unborn Child (58:1-4; Ap. 110-13).

The court hearings relevant to this appeal took place on May 10, June 12, July 19, and August 22, 2013. A motion to suppress statements was due to be heard on May 10, 2013. This motion, saying that "statements made in custody were not voluntary under the totality of the circumstances," had been filed on April 10, 2013. However, on April 25, Attorney Medina sent the court a letter withdrawing the motion. On May 10, the court conducted a colloquy with Wand to determine whether he agreed to forego the motion. After determining that Wand consented to the motion's withdrawal, the court told Wand that the motion could be reconsidered and that he could still attempt to suppress his statements at a later time (118:4-5). If Attorney Medina was going to refile the motion, he would have to do so by May 29 so that it could be heard on June 12.

When June 12 came, Wand ended up pleading guilty. Once defense counsel notified the court of the change of plans, the case was recessed until the afternoon session to give Wand time to ponder his decision (119:10). After court reconvened, the State described a plea agreement, which called for a dismissal/read-in of Count 4 (the first-degree

homicide involving Jessica), the amendment of Count 7 from the first-degree homicide of an unborn child to felony murder, and the promise not to argue for consecutive sentences (119:12-13, 37). The court told Wand that the trial had been set for July 12 and the primary purpose of the June 12 hearing was to consider the suppression of the statements that he had previously made to the investigators (119:13). Wand said that he understood that, by pleading guilty, he was waiving his rights to the suppression hearing and the jury trial (119:14-15). The court continued with the plea colloquy, and Wand pled guilty to the agreed-upon counts (119:23-26). Sentencing was set for July 19, and the court ordered a PSI (119:40-41).

At Wand's first sentencing date on July 19, 2013, his trial counsel produced a motion to withdraw his guilty plea. This written motion alleged two reasons in support of plea withdrawal: an inconsistent statement by Sharon Wand and the fact that she had been recently charged with a crime (120:4). However, referring to the PSI that had been prepared for sentencing, the trial court questioned these grounds for plea withdrawal, noting that Wand had told the PSI writer that he was not thinking clearly at the time he changed his plea to guilty and did so only upon the insistence of his attorneys (*Id*. at 5-6). Wand told the PSI writer that he knew nothing about the fire until being awoken at 5 a.m. by a police officer who informed him of the fire. When the PSI writer asked Wand for his thoughts on sentencing, Wand apathetically responded, "I really feel no sentencing is appropriate because I didn't do anything wrong but if you think I need a sentence it should be 20 years, early parole, and time served" (93:3).

At the July 19, 2013, hearing, Wand spoke at the court's invitation (120:6-7). He told the court that he felt most pressured by Attorney Miguel Michel (defense cocounsel), who, the court noted, was not in court on June 12.

When asked by the court when he got "on board" with changing his plea, Wand said that he was never on board with the idea and just did what he thought was best for the situation, just to make people happy (*Id.* at 9-10). Attorney Michel kept talking about it over and over, so Wand just did what Michel thought was best (*Id.* at 10). The court asked Wand if Attorney Medina indicated on June 12 that he thought Wand should take a plea, to which Wand ambiguously responded, "He was just doing what he thought was best for what – what I told him" (*Id.* at 11). Then, the court also asked Wand if Mr. Medina pushed him into taking a plea that he did not want to make, and Wand responded, "Not all the way, but he kind of sided with Miguel..." (*Id.* at 13-14). Wand denied ever saying, back on June 12, words to the effect that "I want to enter a plea today" (*Id.* at 11).

The court asked Mr. Medina how he knew client wanted to enter plea. Without saying that Wand told him that he wanted to change his plea, Mr. Medina responded, "We filled out a plea questionnaire. I explained the plea questionnaire to him. I explained his options, again explained his constitutional rights, and he signed it, and he also signed the appeal rights form, and that was his information to me, that he was going to enter a plea of guilty that day" (Id. at Although Mr. Medina told the court that he had 12). previously talked about entering a guilty plea, he did not describe any prior discussion in which a decision to plead guilty was made. Seemingly, the decision occurred at the moment that Mr. Medina presented the plea questionnaire to Wand.

Mr. Medina stayed on as Wand's attorney. The court asked Wand if he would feel comfortable with Medina continuing as his attorney. In a textbook example of putting the ox before the cart, Wand told the court: "I think he's one of the best attorneys for the situation since I hear that he's a

better trial lawyer ... I just hear he has a great trial record, I should say, so I think he would be best for the situation as my attorney ... As long as I can talk to him and figure out what signs were misunderstood and the straightening it up, then I would be comfortable with him" (*Id.* at 14). From these comments, Wand was already looking beyond the plea withdrawal to an eventual trial, apparently forgetting that he would first need to convince the court to let him withdraw his plea.

Despite Wand's statements to the PSI writer that he pled guilty at the insistence of his attorneys, his trial counsel stuck by the original motion when it was formally heard by the court on August 22, 2013. Attorney Medina explained that the basis for the plea withdrawal was contained in the motion, adding that Wand had the "same rights as anybody else in terms of making the State prove its burden ..." (121:3). Then counsel stated that Wand "... in view of new evidence and circumstances ... wishes to pursue a trial" (*Id.* at 3-4).

The court reviewed the motion and found that it set forth two grounds for plea withdrawal: (1) Sharon Wand gave a statement to Agent McDermott (the PSI writer) that Wand was present at the crime scene, whereas her prior statement was that she did not see him there; and (2) since the date of the plea, Sharon Wand had been charged (but not convicted) of offenses in another county (Id. at 4). The State clarified that Sharon Wand's earlier statement was that Wand had been there earlier in the evening of the fire, until 7:30, 8 p.m., but she didn't know if he was there later. In her most recent statement, she claimed Wand was there, so the "new evidence" was hardly to Wand's benefit (Id. at 6). Wand's attorney responded that the vagueness of Sharon's statement to the PSI writer was "something in the province of the jury" (*Id.* at 9). The State quickly underscored the weakness of this reason for plea withdrawal: How could a change from an

exculpatory statement to an inculpatory one benefit Wand and offer credible grounds for a plea withdrawal? (*Id.* at 11)

When, at the hearing on the motion to withdraw the guilty plea on August 22, 2013, Attorney Medina asked Wand why he wanted to withdraw his plea, Wand replied that "we have false statements by me ... recanted statements by the defendant" (*Id.* at 16). By "defendant," Wand was referring to himself—and "there was really no way to ... get this to go through except for the suppression." (*Id.* at 17).

Upon cross-examination from the State at the August 22 hearing, Wand again blamed pressure from trial counsel as a reason for pleading guilty (*Id.* at 19). Significantly, this response was elicited by the State, not by defense counsel whose motion and entire argument remained silent on the issue of attorney coercion.

Unsurprisingly, the court denied the motion on the basis of the plea colloquy and the feeble reasons put forth by trial counsel (*Id.* at 29). The fact that Sharon had been charged with a crime did not matter because she had not been convicted (*Id.* at 31). And because the "motion to withdraw was based on fairly limited grounds here on the statement concerning Sharon Wand from an exculpatory to an inculpatory statement resulting in an inconsistent statement" did not bear on an issue in the case, the trial court rejected the motion (*Id.* at 32).

Sentencing followed the court's denial of the motion on August 22, 2013. The court imposed concurrent sentences of life imprisonment on Counts 1 through 3, making Wand eligible for parole after 35 years. Wand received 35 years of initial incarceration and 20 years of extended supervision on Count 5, and 25 years of initial confinement and 15 years extended supervision on Counts 6 and 7 each, to be run concurrent with the other sentences (111:1-3; App. 114-16).

A postconviction motion was filed on July 16, 2015. The motion set forth various claims of ineffective assistance of counsel as grounds for a plea withdrawal: not arguing attorney pressure or coercion as the real reason for seeking the presentence withdrawal of Wand's plea, arguing the plea withdrawal motion under a conflict of interest, not seeking to suppress Wand's statements and retaining an expert for that purpose, and not retaining an expert to dispute the origin of the fire. Attached to the motion were *curriculum vitae* of Dr. Lawrence White, an expert on false confessions, and the report of R. Paul Bieber, an arson expert (150:1-36; App. 117-171). Supplemental exhibits, consisting of a summary of the expert testimony on Wand's confession from Dr. White and Mr. Bieber's *curriculum vitae* were filed on July 29 (156:1-11; App. 172-182).

The circuit court issued an oral decision denying the postconviction motion on October 9, 2015 (165:1-22; App. 183-203), and signed an order to that effect on October 22, 2015 (164:1: App. 204). In starting off its decision, the court made some factual findings. First, the court noted that Wand filed a motion to suppress statements made to the police officer back in the spring of 2013, and a hearing date on the motion was set for May 10, 2013. When that date arrived, the court engaged in a colloquy with Wand and determined the motion to suppress would be withdrawn (165:5-6; App. 187-88). In the event of a change of heart, the court asked for a refiling of the motion by May 29 in anticipation of the hearing scheduled for June 12 (165:6; App. 188).

The motion was refiled on June 7, 2013, only to be withdrawn by defense counsel again prior to the June 12 hearing when Wand pled guilty (*Id.*). Then came the July 19 hearing, originally set for sentencing, except that Wand filed a motion for plea withdrawal immediately prior to the hearing

(Id. at 7; App. 189). At this hearing, the court recalled asking Wand about whether he was satisfied with counsel and giving a chance to have a new attorney appointed (*Id.*).

On August 22, 2013, the date set for a hearing on the plea withdrawal motion, the court reviewed the reasons for plea withdrawal set forth in the motion: Sharon Wand's change of statement that Wand was present at the fire (when previously she did not know whether he was there) and her pending charge (*Id.* at 8; App. 190). These reasons did not constitute fair and just reasons under the more liberal standard for plea withdrawal before sentencing (*Id.*).

The court then turned its attention to the postconviction motion and its claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Many "pieces of evidence" may have motivated Wand to plead guilty, the court suggested. The court cited the confession of his brother Armin, Sharon Wand's new statement, a neighbor's possible identification of Wand at the scene of the fire, and Wand's own confession (*Id.* at 9; App. 191).

Turning to the claim that defense counsel failed to retain and use experts, the trial court noted that an arson expert, named Agnosti, was hired by the defense to provide an opinion. Wand's postconviction motion presented the opinion of another expert, which was not new evidence because it involved "a different interpretation of old evidence," nor was it ineffective assistance of counsel to not retain a second expert (*Id.* at 11; App. 193). The postconviction motion also presented the opinion of Dr. White, an expert on false confessions, and alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for not obtaining and using an expert on this issue.

But the trial court noted that defense counsel had retained an expert, Dr. Merrick, who did a competency

examination on Wand and found that he could understand the Miranda warnings (*Id.* at 13; App. 195). The court pointed out that Wand made a voluntary decision to waive the suppression hearing (*Id.*).

Next, the trial court considered the issue of whether the plea had been coerced by Wand's attorneys. responding to this issue, the trial court said that "there must be sufficient pleadings to receive an evidentiary hearing, and the statements cannot be conclusory, merely saying [Wand] was under pressure. Well, who pressured [Wand]? How? What? What were the threats, if there were threats? What was done to force his plea? ... The only response [from Wand] if you look through the transcripts is 'I felt like I was being pressured." (Id. at 14; App. 196). The trial court took note of State v. Basley for the point that a sufficient plea colloquy "goes a long way to deflect" a postconviction motion of this type (*Id.* at 15; App. 197).<sup>1</sup>

The court recounted the plea colloquy: Wand responded "no" when asked if anyone had made threats or promises to get him to enter into a plea, and the court took a recess of several hours so that Wand could think about whether he wanted to go ahead with the plea or have a trial (*Id.* at 15-16; App. 197-98).

Sufficient precautions were taken during the plea colloquy and Wand was given considerable time to mull over the decision, the court reasoned, so that when the case was recalled that afternoon Wand told the court that he had made the decision to plead guilty independently and with assistance

contest plea complies with constitutional requirements, but it goes a long way

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Basley, 2006 WI App 253, ¶18, 298 Wis. 2d 232, 726 N.W.2d 671, rev. denied, 2007 WI 120, 304 Wis. 2d 610, 741 N.W.2d 240: "Thus, although a circuit court's compliance with *Bangert* cannot immunize a guilty or a no contest plea against all possible postconviction challenges, a proper plea colloquy not only ensures, to the greatest extent possible, that a guilty or a no

of counsel, no one had made threats or promises outside the plea agreement, and that he was pleading guilty because it could mean less time in prison and as a way of remembering his nephews (*Id.* at 17; App. 199).

The court also referred to the questions it posed to Wand at the hearing held on July 19. When asked whether Attorney Medina thought that he should enter a plea, Wand answered: He was just doing what he thought was best for what – what I told him." (*Id.*).

As for Wand's claim that trial counsel had a conflict of interest in arguing the plea withdrawal motion, the court saw this argument as circular: If his attorneys coerced him into pleading guilty, then they had a conflict, but if they did not do so, then they had no conflict (*Id.* at 18-19; App. 200-01). In short, Wand did not describe undue pressure from trial counsel, only that he may have had a strong recommendation, which is permissible, and he was given the opportunity to obtain new counsel, but declined to do so (*Id.* at 19; App. 201).

The trial court denied the postconviction motion in its entirety. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to retain experts because he had done so, and "expert shopping" was not necessary to avoid ineffectiveness. Wand waived his suppression hearing, and the plea colloquy was sound.

#### ARGUMENT

TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN ARGUING THE PLEA WITHDRAWAL MOTION, FOR ARGUING THE MOTION UNDER A CONFLICT OF INTEREST, AND FOR FAILING TO RETAIN AND USE ARSON AND FALSE CONFESSION EXPERTS.

After sentencing, a defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty plea must show by clear and convincing evidence that a withdrawal is necessary to correct a "manifest injustice." State v. Washington, 176 Wis. 2d 205, 213, 500 N.W.2d 331 (Ct. App. 1993). Wisconsin adopted the manifest justice test in State v. Reppin, 35 Wis. 2d 377, 385-86, 151 N.W.2d 9 (1967), based on the American Bar Association's tentative draft of plea withdrawal standards and application to four factual situations. The four factual situations adopted in Reppin were (1) the defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the constitution, statute, or rule; (2) the plea was not entered or ratified by the defendant or a person authorized to act on his or her behalf; (3) the plea was involuntary in that it was entered without knowledge of the charge or the sentence that could be imposed; and (4) the defendant did not receive the concessions contemplated by the plea agreement. *Id.* at 386, fn.2. If any of these four factual situations are present, then the trial court must grant the defendant's postsentence request for plea withdrawal. *Id.* at 386.

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