### RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-20-2016

### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP2344-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEREMY L. WAND,

Defendant-Appellant.

### ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR LAFAYETTE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Because the suppression motion would have failed, Wand's trial attorneys were not ineffective for withdrawing it. Their advice that Wand plead guilty would have remained the same, and Wand would have followed that advice, after the unsuccessful suppression hearing.

## 3. Failure to argue that Wand's guilty plea was coerced by counsel.

Wand faults his trial attorneys for not seeking plea withdrawal before sentencing on the ground that his plea was coerced by them. The record conclusively shows that this challenge has no merit. The trial court made absolutely certain that Wand was pleading guilty of his own free will.

At a meeting with Wand six days before the guilty plea, June 6, 2013, Attorney Michel explained to Wand, "that it was his decision to make as to whether or not to go to trial and that we could only make recommendations as to his options" (150:Ex. A at 2; A-Ap. 135).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Wand also voluntarily and intelligently waived his right to a preliminary hearing on the advice of counsel (116:7-12). Wand stated on the record at a hearing May 10, 2013, that he agreed with his attorneys' decision to withdraw the suppression motion (118:4-7), rendering spurious Wand's claim at page 21 of his brief that he "felt helpless" when the suppression motion was not heard at the June 12 hearing over a month later.

On the written plea questionnaire and waiver form filled out and signed by him on June 12, 2013, Wand assured the court as follows: "I have decided to enter this plea of my own free will. I have not been threatened or forced to enter this plea" (92:2). Wand also acknowledged on that form that he would be giving up his rights to present evidence and to confront his accusers at a jury trial where the State would have to prove him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt (92:1). Both Wand and Attorney Medina assured the court at the June 12 plea hearing that they went through the form together, Wand had sufficient time to go through the form with Medina, and Wand understood everything on the form before signing it (119:26-27).

Plea questionnaire and waiver forms such as this are useful tools for assessing the voluntary and intelligent nature of a guilty plea on appellate review. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 268, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). *See State v. Brandt*, 226 Wis. 2d 610, 619-21, 594 N.W.2d 759 (1999); *State v. Garcia*, 192 Wis. 2d 845, 866, 532 N.W.2d 111 (1995); *State v. Moederndorfer*, 141 Wis. 2d 823, 827-28, 416 N.W.2d 627 (Ct. App. 1987). *Also see State v. Johnson*, 210 Wis. 2d 196, 200 n.1, 201, 565 N.W.2d 191 (Ct. App. 1997).

Wand and the court engaged in the following colloquy at the outset of the June 12, 2013, plea hearing:

THE COURT: And has anyone made any threats or promises to get you to go ahead and enter a plea here today?

DEFENDANT JEREMY L. WAND: No, they haven't, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And you had adequate time to discuss any questions that you have with Mr. Medina?

DEFENDANT JEREMY L. WAND: Yes I have, Your Honor.

(119:7-8).

The court did not accept Wand's plea at the time. It adjourned the hearing for several hours because, in the court's words, "I don't want you in any respect to think that you are being forced or coerced or hurried or rushed into making a decision on this" (119:9). The court then took a recess from 9:57 a.m. to 1:30 p.m. to give Wand plenty of time to think about his decision (119:10).

After the recess, the court engaged Wand in a plea colloquy that could serve as a model for courts everywhere (119:11-40). It was as thorough as thorough could be. The court revisited the issue of coercion with Wand:

THE COURT: I will ask you again, has anyone other than this plea agreement, the charges you are going to be pleading to, has anyone made any threats or promises to get you to enter into this plea today?

DEFENDANT JEREMY L. WAND: No, they haven't, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Can you tell me why, then, in your own words, you have decided to enter your plea today?

DEFENDANT JEREMY L. WAND: I decided to enter the plea today because I thought that I could get less time and also to be able to rememberance [sic] of my nephews in a different way and to get a second chance and so I could be able to have a family one day.

(119:20-21).

Attorney Medina twice assured the court of his belief that Wand, "has entered into this plea freely, voluntarily and intelligently" (119:27, 36). Wand never complained that either of his two attorneys forced him to plead guilty. The trial court accepted the guilty plea after finding that Wand entered it "knowingly, freely, and voluntarily" (119:38). Wand claimed for the first time at the scheduled sentencing hearing on July 19, 2013, that his plea was coerced by Attorney Michel and not by Attorney Medina (120:6), and he was never "on board" with pleading guilty. He pled guilty just to "make people happy" (120:8-10). This was not one of the grounds listed in the plea withdrawal motion filed by Attorney Medina that same day (95; 120:3-4).

Attorney Medina explained that he advised Wand to plead guilty, and helped him fill out the plea questionnaire and waiver form, because Medina believed it would give Wand a better chance for a favorable disposition at sentencing (120:12). Incongruously, despite his claims of coercion by Attorney Michel, Wand wanted to keep both Attorneys Medina and Michel on the case if it went to trial (120:15-17).<sup>8</sup>

The thrust of Wand's complaint here is that his attorneys should have pursued the motion to suppress his statements on June 12 before they coerced him to plead guilty. Yet, Wand waited until the day he was sentenced, July 19, to tell Attorney Medina that he wanted to withdraw his plea. Even then, the only reason Wand gave Medina was S.W.'s inconsistent statement in the presentence report (121:8-9). Moreover, the basis for the suppression motion would now apparently be that Wand's confession was false. But, Wand knew whether his confession was false long before he decided to plead guilty. Nothing changed.

Wand testified at the August 22 hearing that his attorneys advised him to plead guilty because it was "the best choice that I could get" (121:16). The real reason Wand now wanted a trial, however, was his change of heart. He now wanted the jury trial that he knowingly and voluntarily waived on June 12 so he could prove his confession was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Wand's expressed desire to have Medina and Michel continue to represent him undermines his claim that they were laboring under an actual conflict of interest that would have adversely affected their representation of him.

false, the State's witnesses were not being "totally honest," and S.W. somehow "recanted" (121:16-17, 19-20; *see* 150:5; A-Ap. 121). Although he denied this was merely a change of heart, Wand conceded that nothing changed since he pled guilty on June 12. He wanted to withdraw the plea not because he was coerced, but because it was "what's best for me and my family and friends" (121:18).

The trial court denied the motion, noting that it was not filed until just before sentencing when Wand learned that the presentence investigation report recommended that he serve a life sentence without eligibility for early release. The court found that Wand merely had a change of heart at the last minute (121:31-32).

In its October 9, 2015, oral decision denying Wand's postconviction motion to withdraw his plea, the court summarized the salient portions of the June 12 plea colloguy and its colloquy with Wand at the July 19 hearing (165:15-18; A-Ap. 197-200). In response to Wand's argument that it should ignore the colloquy, the court reasoned: "Well, I think the only way I can determine if there was undue pressure is to ask the defendant and to ... listen to his answers, so I think the colloquy is very important here, and it drives a lot of the court's decision-making process" (165:15; A-Ap. 197). The court found to be only conclusory Wand's complaint that he "felt pressure" from Attorney Michel. The motion failed to answer the following question: "Well, what did he do? He should take the plea. Having said Ι а strong recommendation ... by itself is not grounds to say that there was undo [sic] coercion or pressure to accept that plea" (165:19).

The trial court was correct as a matter of fact and law. The motion failed to allege when and how Attorney Michel coerced Wand's plea. Missing from the motion was any offer of proof as to what Attorney Michel would testify to at an evidentiary hearing. It is highly unlikely Attorney Michel would admit that he forced Wand to plead guilty against his wishes and took the decision out of Wand's hands. The only evidence produced by Wand shows that Attorney Michel told Wand six days before his plea that the decision whether or not to go to trial was Wand's to make and his attorneys could only make recommendations (150:Ex. A at 2; A-Ap. 135). That is what occurred here. Wand's attorneys recommended that he take the plea offer in hopes of improving his chances at sentencing and Wand followed their sound advice. Nothing more.

The antiseptic plea colloquy is the best evidence that Wand's plea was not coerced by anyone. In *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), the supreme court set forth certain mandatory procedures to be followed by trial courts when accepting a guilty or no contest plea to ensure that the record reflects the voluntary and intelligent nature of the plea. Id. at 260-62, 266-72. See Wis. Stat. § 971.08. Those mandatory procedures help to ascertain the defendant's understanding of the elements of the offense to which he is about to plead, his understanding of the constitutional trial rights being waived by the plea, and his assurance that no threats or promises were made to coerce the plea. *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 260-66. The court must also inquire into the factual basis for the plea to make sure that the facts supporting the charge actually constitute the offense to which the defendant is about to plead. Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b). Those procedures were followed here to the fullest (119:11-40).

It is of great significance that Wand's plea satisfied the mandatory procedures set forth in Wis. Stat. § 971.08, and as interpreted in *Bangert*, for accepting a voluntary and intelligent plea. The antiseptic plea colloquy raises a "strong presumption" that the plea is binding and the defendant "bears a heavy burden" to show that some alleged misunderstanding outside the record of the plea colloquy requires withdrawal of this otherwise proper plea. *State v. Jenkins*, 2007 WI 96, ¶ 60, 303 Wis. 2d 157, 736 N.W.2d 24. *See United States v. Lambey*, 949 F.2d 133, 137 (4th Cir. 1991).

If we determine that there was no error in the taking of the defendant's plea, we will be extremely reluctant to reverse the district court, even if the defendant makes out a legally cognizable defense to the charges against him. That is, a defendant who fails to show some error under [Federal] Rule 11 has to shoulder an extremely heavy burden if he is ultimately to prevail.

United States v. Cray, 47 F.3d 1203, 1208 (D.C. Cir. 1995). Also see United States v. Abdul, 75 F.3d 327, 329 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 518 U.S. 1027 (1996) (the defendant "faces a heavy burden" even when he protests his innocence if the record at the plea hearing demonstrates that the plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered).

Even plea withdrawal motions brought before sentencing under the lower "fair and just reason" standard are not to be granted "simply on a lark" because of the great care with which pleas are taken. See United States v. Hyde, 520 U.S. 670, 676-77 (1997). See also State v. Bollig, 2006 WI 6, ¶¶ 28-29, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199; State v. Garcia, 192 Wis. 2d 845, 861-62, 532 N.W.2d 111 (1995); United States v. Messino, 55 F.3d 1241, 1248 (7th Cir. 1995).

Strong advice by defense counsel that Wand enter a guilty plea is not coercion so long as he knows the decision whether or not to go to trial remains his to make. *State v. Rhodes,* 2008 WI App 32, ¶ 11, 307 Wis. 2d 350, 746 N.W.2d 599 ("forceful advice" was not coercion).

If Wand wanted an evidentiary hearing, his motion had to "at least inform the circuit court in some fashion what was said to mislead him." *State v. Howell*, 2006 WI App 182, ¶ 44, 296 Wis. 2d 380, 722 N.W.2d 567. Wand's motion only alleged that he received strong advice from his attorneys to accept the plea offer, but the decision remained his to make. Wand may not use an evidentiary hearing to call Attorney Michel or anyone else in hopes of developing facts that he failed to proffer in his motion. *See Id.* ¶ 18. ("Thus, the supreme court recognized the need to avoid hearings that amount to nothing more than fishing expeditions for defendants."). Wand's motion alleges that he is innocent, but that allegation is not backed up with credible evidence of innocence. *Rhodes*, 307 Wis. 2d 350, ¶ 13.

### 4. The alleged actual conflict of interest.

Wand contends that his attorneys engaged in unethical conduct to save their reputations. Rather than admit that they forced Wand to plead guilty against his wishes, they conjured up a specious reason in their motion for plea withdrawal before sentencing (S.W.'s credibility issues) to cover up their bad behavior. Wand's motion does not support these serious allegations with facts.

A criminal defendant's right to effective assistance of counsel includes the corresponding right to representation free from conflicting interests. State v. Street, 202 Wis. 2d 533, 541, 551 N.W.2d 830 (Ct. App. 1996). A claim that a defense attorney labored under an actual conflict of interest is treated as a "sub-species" of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. State v. Love, 227 Wis. 2d 60, 68, 594 N.W.2d 806 (1999). Wand would bear the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence at an evidentiary hearing that his attorneys were actively representing competing interests. See State v. Kaye, 106 Wis. 2d 1, 8-9, 315 N.W.2d 337 (1982); State v. Kalk, 2000 WI App 62, ¶¶ 15-16, 234 Wis. 2d 98, 608 N.W.2d 428. He would not meet that burden by proving a mere possibility or suspicion of conflict under hypothetical circumstances. Wand must prove his attorneys' advocacy on his behalf was adversely affected by competing loyalties. *Id.* 

The discussion in the preceding section puts this utterly baseless claim to rest. Because Wand's allegations of coercion by his attorneys were at once conclusory and conclusively defeated by the record, his allegation of unethical conduct by his attorneys to hide an actual conflict of interest was also conclusory and defeated by the record. Wand insists that merely alleging his attorneys were ineffective, without any proof to back it up, is enough to create a conflict and requires their removal from the case. Wand's brief at 25. Wand cites no authority for that startling proposition because there is none. If there were, defendants could routinely back out of guilty pleas just by making conclusory and baseless claims, either before or after sentencing, that their attorneys were ineffective. All authority is directly to the contrary. *E.g., Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 50, 56-59, 68; *Howell*, 296 Wis. 2d 380, ¶ 18. This argument also makes no sense because Wand wanted to keep his supposedly conflicted attorneys on the case (120:15-17).

The record conclusively shows that there was no coercion by counsel, just sound advice that Wand wisely followed.

### C. The insufficient allegation of prejudice.

The allegation of actual prejudice in Wand's motion was also at the same time conclusory and conclusively defeated by the record.

By all accounts, Wand would still have accepted the favorable plea offer even if his attorneys succeeded in having his confession suppressed, and were prepared to call arson investigator Bieber to testify that the fire was of "undetermined" origin; and called a false confession expert to testify at a suppression hearing or trial that he does not know whether Wand's confession was true. See Premo v. Moore, 131 S. Ct. 733, 742 (2011) ("It is not clear how the successful exclusion of the confession would have affected counsel's strategic calculus."); *id.* at 745 ("Given all this, an unconstitutional admission of [Wand's] confession to police might have been found harmless even ... if [he] had gone to trial after the denial of a suppression motion").

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